THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2012-213635

---

MARY MELINDA BALLARD..... Respondent.

v.

CITY OF CHARLESTON BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW and THE CITY OF  
CHARLESTON ..... Appellants.

---

**APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF**

---

Timothy A. Domin  
CLAWSON AND STAUBES, LLC  
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200  
Charleston, South Carolina 29492-8144  
(843) 577-2026

Attorney for the Appellants

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 07 2013  
**SC Court of Appeals**

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err when it reversed the decision of the BAR and ordered the BAR to approve demolition of the home?
2. Did the Circuit Court err by substituting its own judgment for the decision of the BAR which concluded that destruction of the home was not justified on the facts of the case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Circuit Court order signed by the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. dated November 13, 2012. (Dennis Order, p. 1). The Circuit Court was acting in its appellate capacity reviewing the decision of the City of Charleston Board of Architectural Review (hereinafter BAR) which rendered decisions on two separate applications on April 11, 2012, and May 23, 2012, respectively. (May 23 hearing, April 11 hearing). The April decision was as a result of a remand and concerned the removal of certain unauthorized changes to the structure. The May decision was a denial of an application to demolish the structure. Those BAR decisions were timely appealed by the property owner, Melinda Ballard to the Circuit Court as provided by City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance Sec. 54-248. (R. \_\_\_ Notices of Appeal to Circuit Court). Judge Dennis reversed the decision of the BAR rendered on May 23, 2012 and did not rule on the decision regarding the other application. The BAR and the City of Charleston received written notice of entry of the order on November 26, 2012 and timely filed this appeal with the Court of Appeals on December 21, 2012.

## FACTS

This matter arises out of request by Melinda Ballard, now deceased, to approve unauthorized exterior changes to and additionally for demolition of a residence at 15 Orange Street in downtown Charleston, South Carolina. Orange Street runs south from Broad Street to Tradd Street and is located entirely within the City of Charleston's Old and Historic District. City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance Sec. 54-231. Zoning regulations require the City of Charleston Board of Architectural Review (BAR) to review and approval all modifications or demolition of any structure in the Old and Historic District as well as modifications to structures of a certain age outside of the Old and Historic District. City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance Sec. 54-232 (a).

In 2010, the City of Charleston noted that certain changes had been made to the exterior of the structure without permission of the BAR. Some of the changes were in fact previously denied by the BAR. (April 2012 BAR Order). These changes included changes in the appearance of the doors including a highly ornamented mahogany front door in place of a plain wood and glass front door, changes to the french doors and windows, installation of hoods or surrounds over the top of the doors and windows, installation of decorative urns on top of historic columns, installation of metal grates on the second floor, and installation of a roof over a second floor patio. (April 2012 BAR Order). All of these changes were made by Ballard without approval and were determined to be visible from the street or sidewalk and thus within the jurisdiction of the BAR.<sup>1</sup> (April 2012 BAR Order)

---

<sup>1</sup> The BAR only asserts jurisdiction over changes that are visible from the public ways, streets and sidewalks. The BAR does assert jurisdiction over changes that would be visible from the public ways and sidewalks but for foliage on the basis that the foliage is a condition of the property which changes as a result of plant disease and even the seasons.

Ballard made a petition for after-the-fact approval of changes to the BAR. (April 2012 BAR Order). That application was denied by the BAR. (April 2012 BAR Order).

By way of additional procedural history, but not particularly important to the appeal, the BAR decision was initially appealed to the Honorable J. C. Nicholson, Jr. who determined that the decision of the BAR and the record on appeal was insufficient to allow him to adequately review the matter. He remanded the matter to the BAR to make specific findings. (Nicholson Order). Ballard made an interlocutory appeal to the Court of Appeals which was dismissed upon motion of the City and the case was remanded to the BAR to prepare an order concerning its previous decision. (Court of Appeals Dismissal of Interlocutory Appeal). On April 11, 2012 the BAR issued a written decision setting forth reasons for its prior denial of after-the-fact changes, clarified the additions which needed to be restored to original condition, and partially reversed itself to allow the windows to remain. (April 2012 BAR Order). Ballard again appealed to the Circuit Court from this decision of the BAR denying her after-the-fact changes.

In the meantime, Ballard filed a separate application with the BAR to completely demolish the home. Ballard claimed that improper installation of the windows and doors by a contractor resulted in water intrusion and resulting mold which justified tearing down the structure. (Transcript of Hearing of BAR May 23, 2012). The BAR denied the application for demolition and that decision. (Transcript of Hearing of BAR May 23, 2012). The Board cited in its hearing the lack of evidence supporting a demolition, the suitability of the home to the surrounding structures, the concern for nearby structures, and the need to preserve the architecture of the Randolph Martz, a Charleston architect of the modern area. That decision of the BAR was appealed by Ballard to the Circuit Court. (Transcript

of Hearing of BAR May 23, 2012).

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. heard both the appeal on the BAR's denial of the after the fact modifications to the home and the BAR's denial of Ballard's request for a total demolition. (Dennis Order, Hearing). Judge Dennis bypassed the BAR's decision on Ballard's unauthorized changes. (Dennis Order). Judge Dennis reversed the decision of the BAR as to demolition and ordered that the BAR authorize the demolition of the home. (Dennis Order). The City and the BAR appealed the decision of Judge Dennis. Ballard did not appeal Judge Dennis' order. Accordingly, it is the City's position that the only issue on appeal is whether demolition should be granted or denied. If the Respondent intends to argue the issue of the denial of approval for the after-the-fact changes, the City will address that in its reply brief.

#### ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred when it reversed the decision of the BAR and directed the BAR to issue a demolition permit. While the home in question is not itself historic, it is located in the heart of the Old and Historic District. The home as originally designed, approved and constructed fits harmoniously with the surrounding historic homes in the neighborhood. There was insufficient evidence submitted by Ballard to justify the total demolition of the home, especially given the risk to surrounding structures on the property and immediately adjacent to it. It is a major undertaking to demolish an over 5000 square foot brick home on a historic, narrow, one-way street with historic structures both on the property and immediately adjacent to it. The BAR was concerned about all of these issues as well as the desire to protect structures of more recent origin which will be historic houses and landmarks of the future. The Circuit Court judge erroneously substituted his

judgment for that of the BAR in reversing the decision of the BAR.

In Talbot v. Myrtle Beach Bd. of Adjustment, 222 S.C. 165, 72 S.E.2d 66 (1952), the Supreme Court recognized the wide discretion granted to zoning boards and ruled zoning boards' decisions should not be interfered with unless the decision are arbitrary. In Hodge v. Pollock, 223 S.C. 342, 348, 75 S.E.2d 752, 754-55 (1953) the Supreme Court held: "The decision of the zoning board will not be upheld where it is based on errors of law, or fraud, or where there is no legal evidence to support it, or where the board acts arbitrarily or unreasonably, or in a discriminatory manner or where, in general, the board has abused its discretion." Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840(A) "[t]he findings of fact by the board of appeals must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence." A court should refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision. Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry County, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999). However, a decision of a city zoning board will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion. Clear Channel Outdoor v. City of Myrtle Beach, 372 S.C. 230, 235, 642 S.E.2d 565, 567 (2007); Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry County, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999). There is good reason for this standard as local boards—planning commissions, boards of zoning appeal and boards of architectural review—are well-acquainted with local conditions and interpretation of their own ordinances.

In the present case, the BAR held a hearing on May 23, 2012 to address Ballard's application for demolition of the entire structure at 15 Orange Street. The decision of the BAR was not reduced to an order as it is not the typical practice of the Board to reduce its

decisions to a formal order unless the reviewing court determines the record is insufficient pursuant to allow the reviewing court to render a decision consistent with the rule of Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 342 S.C. 480, 493-94, 536 S.E.2d 892, 899 (Ct. App. 2000). See also Wyndham Enters., LLC v. City of N. Augusta, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E.2d 659 (S.C. Ct. App. 2012).

At the hearing, Ballard presented evidence that the building sustained mold and moisture damage as a result of leaks around windows. Photos were shown of damage in various locations. In opposition, multiple persons spoke at the BAR meeting against the Ballard application including nearby property owners and the Preservation Society of Charleston. The Preservation Society expressed concerned that mold is a common condition in both historic and non-historic structures and that a finding of mold and rot should not and does not necessitate tearing down of structures. (BAR Transcript May 23, 2012, p. 11). The Preservation Society also expressed concern that the current building as originally designed was an appropriate, non-intrusive background building and that it should not be torn down. (Id.) Nearby and neighboring property owners similarly expressed concern that Ballard had not provided a structural engineer's report suggesting demolition is necessary. Other nearby property owners testified before the Board as to the probability of damage to both nearby properties and historic structures on Ballard's property including a historic masonry wall that runs along Orange Street, just a few yards from the building itself. More than one person presented the position that heavy truck traffic associated with demolition and reconstruction activities would have an adverse impact on surrounding neighborhood historic properties. (Id. P. 15-16). In fact, there was testimony that construction traffic of various types has in the past caused damage to

nearby historic properties. (p. 17). There was also concern by witnesses that Ballard had already willfully disregarded the jurisdiction of the BAR when she made unapproved modifications and that no consideration should be given to her application until such time as she complied with the prior decisions of the BAR.

The Board addressed several concerns including that there had been an insufficient showing of structural problems that would justify a total demolition. The Board noted that it had not been provided a report of a structural engineer. (Id. P. 23). The Board noted the concerns of the neighbors that had been expressed at the hearing. (Id. P. 21). Finally, the Board noted that while the architecture was of recent origin, it was a good example of a modern designer of good reputation. (P. 21).

The burden of proof and persuasion rested on the applicant to demonstrate that there was reason to justify demolition of the home that outweighed the risks to surrounding structures. The applicant failed to meet that burden. The applicant did not satisfy the BAR that there was sufficient cause to demolish the entire building. There was information provided as to areas where repairs needed to be made, but there was no information suggesting that a wholesale demolition of the structure was warranted. (Transcript of Hearing of BAR May 23, 2012).

In contrast, there was some evidence that the demolition did not sufficiently take into account the harm to surrounding historic structures from vibration and accidental damage during demolition. (Transcript of Hearing of BAR May 23, 2012). In particular, it is reasonable to be concerned that demolition of a brick home with over 5000 square feet of living space would be a major construction project causing disruption of the street and heavy equipment that will potentially harm surrounding structures. (Transcript of Hearing

of BAR May 23, 2012). There was some evidence damage had occurred in the past to historic properties in the area from heavy equipment in the area which was unrelated to the applicant's activities. (Transcript of Hearing of BAR May 23, 2012).

The BAR was also entitled to consider that the current structure fits harmoniously within the existing collection of historic structures. Even where the BAR allows a structure to be demolished, it is typically conditioned on approval of a replacement structure so that there is not a missing hole in the landscape and so that it can be assured that the replacement structure will be at least as beneficial for the aesthetics of the community.

While the architectural review boards in all communities have important task, the Charleston BAR has a particularly important role in preserving the aesthetic character in the Old and Historic District where the appearance of buildings and streets is important business. Aesthetics of building not only influence tourism, the beauty of the Old and Historic District serves as an important asset for the local community.

In the present case, the Circuit Court judge substituted his own judgment in the place of the BAR. In fact, the Circuit Court made clear that its position was that if the City was not willing to allow Ballard to keep her illegal additions "and the person [Ballard] says 'I don't want to spend the money to make it better, I want to demolish it.' I think an individual in this country ought to have the right to do that. So that is what I think is arbitrary and capricious." (Transcript of Dennis Hearing). Clearly the Circuit Court's ruling reflects a standard that persons should be able to tear down any structure if they don't want to fix it. That is an inappropriate standard in many places, but especially in Charleston's Old and Historic District. Surely, individuals should not have right to change their structures in any manner they desire or have the alternative right to simply tear down.

the structure. And those buying property in the Old and Historic District have an expectation of the existing environment of regulations and procedures that govern changes in the District.

The City of Charleston Zoning ordinances provides that the Board of Architectural review shall consider "among other things, the historic, architectural and aesthetic features o such structure, the nature and character of the surrounding area, [and] the use of such structure and the importance to the city." City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance Sec. 54-240(a). Indeed, the Board itself has the authority to "require correction of defects or repairs to any structure covered by this article so that such structure shall be preserved and protected in consonance with the purpose of this article and the public safety and housing ordinance." City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance Sec. 54-241.

#### CONCLUSION

The decision of the Circuit Court rendered in its opinion of November 13, 2012 should be reversed and the decision of the Board of Architectural Review reinstated. Of course, this is without prejudice to Ms. Ballard's Estate or a subsequent purchaser to reapply for the requested relief based on passage of time and additional information.

CLAWSON AND STAUBES, LLC



---

Timothy A. Domin  
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200  
Charleston, South Carolina 29492-8144  
(843) 577-2026

Attorney for Appellants City of Charleston  
and City of Charleston Board of  
Architectural Review

October 2, 2013

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2012-213635

---

MARY MELINDA BALLARD..... Respondent.

v.

CITY OF CHARLESTON BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW and THE CITY OF  
CHARLESTON ..... Appellants.

---