THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2012-213635

ESTATE OF MARY MELINDA BALLARD.....Respondent,

v.

CITY OF CHARLESTON BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW and THE CITY OF
CHARLESTON.....Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Alice F. Paylor
Rosen, Rosen & Hagood, LLC
151 Meeting Street, Suite 400
P.O. Box 893
Charleston, SC 29402

Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

JAN 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, the findings of fact by a zoning board shall be treated in the same manner as findings of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930 (Supp. 2011). “In reviewing the questions presented by the appeal, the court shall determine only whether the decision of the Board is correct as a matter of law.” Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 362 S.C. 29, 33, 606 S.E.2d 209, 211 (Ct. App. 2004). Furthermore, “[a] court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision.” Restaurant Row Assocs. v. Horry Cty., 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999). “However, a decision of a municipal zoning board will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion.” Id.

I. In denying Appellant’s demolition application, the BAR acted outside the scope of its authority and its decision was arbitrary and capricious, so that the Circuit Court Order should be affirmed.

The BAR’s denial of Respondent’s application to demolish her hazardous and structurally unsound house is unlawful and exceeds the power granted to the BAR. The BAR only has those powers as granted by the zoning ordinance. See S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-880 (“The board of architectural review has those powers involving the structures and neighborhoods as may be determined by the zoning ordinance.”). The zoning ordinance provides that the BAR may deny an application to demolish a structure within the old and historic district in two situations:

1. When, in the opinion of the BAR, demolition would be “detrimental to the interests of the old and historic district and against the public interests of the city,” see Zoning Ordinance § 54-240(c); or

2. If it determines the structure is “of such architectural or historical interest that the removal will be detrimental to the public interest.” See Zoning Ordinance § 54-240(j).

No other grounds for denial of an application for the demolition of a non-historic structure within the BAR’s jurisdiction are provided by the Zoning Ordinance. Neither of those situations is present in the current matter, and the BAR did not make any findings of fact in support of either one of these situations. As discussed below, the BAR failed to even issue a written Order setting forth any findings. However, a review of the transcript from the hearing makes it abundantly clear that neither of the two grounds for denying a demolition permit is present and that the evidence and testimony elicited at the hearing do not support the BAR’s denial.

Various neighbors and citizens testified at the hearing. However, this testimony was largely speculative and irrelevant to the factors required to be considered by the BAR. For example, Mr. Gurley, a representative from the Preservation Society of Charleston, testified that he was concerned that allowing demolition of Respondent’s home due to the mold damage would set an unfavorable precedent, prompting the owners of historic homes to also seek demolition on the basis that mold is present in their homes. T.R.2, p. 11, ll. 2-8. While this concern may be classified as going to the public interest, Dennis Dowd, the BAR’s staff architect, clearly stated during the hearing that the BAR staff was “not concerned” about the Preservation Society’s concerns as to precedent. T.R.2, p. 19, ll. 20-25. Mr. Dowd explained that each application had to be viewed and acted upon individually. T.R.2, p. 19, l. 25; p. 20, l. 1.

Mr. Gurley and several others also testified that they were concerned about what would be rebuilt on the site if demolition was permitted. T.R.2, p. 11, ll. 9-11, p. 13, ll. 4-7. In fact, in their Initial Brief, Appellants state: “Even where the BAR allows a structure to be demolished, it is typically conditioned on approval of a replacement structure...” (App. Initial Brief, p. 8).

However, the Zoning Ordinance does not permit this practice. The neighbors' and board members' concerns about what might occur after demolition are speculative and it was not proper for the BAR to consider such concerns as part of its deliberations. Mr. Dowd acknowledged as much when he stated that the Zoning Ordinance does not allow the BAR to defer its decision on the application until it knows what will happen post-demolition and that the BAR is also not permitted to "condition [approval] upon what may happen in the future." T.R.2, p. 11, ll. 2-6.

Several neighbors testified that they were concerned that Respondent had failed to adequately explain how their homes and street would be protected if demolition were to take place. T.R.2, p. 12, ll. 11-15; p. 13, ll. 23-25; p. 16, ll. 9-11; p. 17, ll. 1-12. In their Brief, Appellants speculate that "[i]t is a major undertaking to demolish an over 5000 square foot brick home on a historic, narrow, one-way street with historic structures both on the property and immediately adjacent to it" and that it would be "a major construction project causing disruption of the street and heavy equipment that will potentially harm the surrounding structures." (App. Initial Brief, pp. 4, 7). Of course, these same circumstances were present when the house was constructed in 2002. Regardless, not only is there no evidence to support the BAR's speculations, the record establishes that the demolition would not adversely affect surrounding properties. See Application for Demolition Permit. Mr. Dowd, the BAR's staff architect, explained this to the BAR by stating that Respondent's application and supporting documentation was "very thorough" and did "a pretty good job actually of, you know, addressing potential concerns of surrounding property owners." T.R.2, p. 18, ll. 21-22; p. 20, ll. 7-19.

The reasons given by the members of the BAR to reject the staff architect's recommendation and to support their votes to deny the application are no less speculative or

arbitrary. As stated hereinabove, the scope of the BAR's discretion in its consideration of Respondent's application is limited by the Zoning Ordinance to a determination of whether demolition would be "detrimental to the interests of the old and historic district and against the public interests of the city," and whether the structure is "of such architectural or historical interest that the removal will be detrimental to the public interest." See Zoning Ordinance § 54-240(c) & (j). BAR member Wertimer opined that they needed "more substantial evidence of the imminent danger that this structure poses to life." T.R.2, p. 22, ll. 14-17. The Zoning Ordinance does not give the BAR the authority to deny a demolition application if an applicant does not prove that the structure at issue is deadly. BAR member DeMarco, after conceding that he is not an engineer, opined that Respondent should be required to "reinforc[e] the structure so it doesn't collapse and fix what they need to fix." T.R.2, p. 22, ll. 22-23; p. 23, ll. 1-2. The Chair of the BAR and member White both also opined that Respondent should just "fix" her home. T.R.2, p. 23, ll. 17-19; p. 24, ll. 15-19. The evidence presented by Respondent clearly establishes that "fixing" the structure, even if possible, would be far more of an undertaking than demolishing it. The BAR's reliance on its members' subjective and uninformed opinions that Respondent should "fix" her house rather than demolish it was misplaced, arbitrary, and capricious. Moreover, it goes beyond the authority granted to the BAR by the Zoning Ordinance and therefore constitutes an abuse of discretion. Member DeMarco did say that he's "always liked the design of the house. It's elegant in its simplicity and to lose that I think would be a shame." T.R.2, p. 23, ll. 5-7. Additionally, member Harrison opined that Respondent's home "is one of those prime examples of a Randolph Martz design." T.R.2, p. 21, ll. 22-23. These statements of opinion fall short of establishing that Respondent's non-historic, structurally unsound house is of such architectural or historical significance that its demolition would be detrimental to the public interest. A review of

the transcript makes it clear that the real motivating factor behind the BAR's denial of Respondent's demolition application is the desire to punish Respondent for what the BAR perceives as her past transgressions. A neighbor present at the BAR hearing repeated the phrase: "Where the law ends, tyranny begins." Respondent could not agree more. Here, the BAR has absolutely ignored the legal scope of its review and authority and has grossly abused its power. Even its staff architect, Mr. Dowd, recommended that the BAR approve Respondent's application. T.R.2, p. 20, l. 25; p. 21, l. 1.

In Wyndham Enterprises, LLC v. City of N. Augusta, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 2012), a landowner sought review of the City of North Augusta Board of Zoning Appeals' (BZA) denial of a special exception request to sell fireworks. The landowner argued the BZA acted outside the scope of its authority, and its decision was arbitrary, capricious, and violated Appellants' right to equal protection. During the BZA hearing, fourteen residents of nearby residential neighborhoods testified against the special exception. Residents' concerns included increased traffic, decreased property values, and a negative image of the community due to multiple fireworks retailers in the same area. At the conclusion of the BZA hearing, the BZA voted unanimously to deny the request, finding that it was "not in harmony with nearby residential developments" and would have "a detrimental impact on existing and proposed residential development in the area." Pursuant to section 18.4.5.4.3(b) of the applicable Zoning Code, the BZA was required to evaluate permits for special exceptions on the basis of the following criteria:

1. That the special exception complies with all applicable development standards contained elsewhere in this Chapter and with the policies contained in the Comprehensive Plan. (Rev. 12-1-08; Ord.2008-18)
2. That the special exception will be in substantial harmony with the area in which it is to be located.

3. That the special exception will not discourage or negate the use of surrounding property for use(s) permitted by right.

On appeal, the landowner contended the BZA's decision to deny their special exception was based solely on opinion and conjecture. The BZA argued the residents' sworn testimony regarding the detrimental change in character to the neighborhood by the proliferation of fireworks stores, the decreased property values of the residential homes in the area, and the negative impact on future residential growth was ample evidence to support the BZA's decision. The Court disagreed, finding the BZA's decision to be arbitrary and capricious:

Regarding the third criterion, the BZA determined the special exception would not discourage or negate the use of the commercially zoned property immediately surrounding the property, but would have a detrimental impact on existing and proposed residential development. At the hearing, residents testified as to their concerns regarding the proposed fireworks business. These concerns included an increase in traffic, a decline in property values, and a detrimental impact on the character of the surrounding area. The testimony proffered was based on speculation and opinion. Although property owners can generally testify as to the value of and damage to their own property, here only one of numerous witnesses addressed the special exception's effect on property value. Moreover, the property owner did not testify about his specific parcel but rather testified broadly about the undesired fireworks store's possible effect on the neighborhood's home values as a whole. This testimony was not competent to support the denial of the special exception.

Additionally, the Court noted that while there was testimony that residents felt the fireworks business would increase traffic, they failed to offer any competent, non-conjectural evidence to support their opinions. The Court reversed the circuit court's decision to affirm the BZA because “the BZA's decision was not supported by competent, substantial, and material evidence, and was based on opinion and speculation testimony.”

In the present matter, just as in Wyndham, the decision of the BAR is vague, unspecific, arbitrary and capricious and is without legal or factual support and therefore constitutes an abuse of discretion and is patently unlawful. Although there are no findings of fact, the BAR's decision

was presumably based on opinion and speculation testimony and was a reaction to public comments that brought up the prior application of Appellant to make changes to the exterior of her residence. The BAR considered matters outside of those that it was permitted to consider pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance and State law, failed to consider the very relevant and thorough evidence presented by Appellant, and failed to base its decision on competent, substantial, and material evidence.

The decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed and this Court should remand the case to the BAR with the specific direction that it grant Respondent's application for a demolition permit.

II. As an additional and alternative basis for affirming the Circuit Court's decision, the standards of the City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance for the demolition of structures located in the Old and Historic District are not specific and are so vague and inadequate that they fail to provide notice to applicants or to BAR members of applicable standards to be followed by the BAR in reaching a decision.

The Ordinance establishing the BAR is unconstitutional due to its failure to set reasonable standards to be followed by the BAR in passing upon demolition applications. In determining whether or not to approve an application for demolition, the Zoning Ordinance requires only that the BAR decide whether demolition would be "detrimental to the interests of the old and historic district and against the public interests of the city," and whether the structure is "of such architectural or historical interest that the removal will be detrimental to the public interest." See Zoning Ordinance § 54-240(c) & (j). The Zoning Ordinance fails to define the material terms of this section and further fails to provide any guidance to applicants or BAR members with regard to what are legitimate considerations of the BAR when reviewing such demolition applications.

In Peterson Outdoor Advertising v. City of Myrtle Beach, 327 S.C. 230, 489 S.E.2d 630 (S.C. 1997), the S.C. Supreme Court discussed the enactment of architectural review board ordinances:

Ordinances, such as the CAB Ordinance, are a valid exercise of a municipality's authority. Municipalities are granted broad police powers to enact ordinances with respect to any subject which appears necessary and proper for the security, general welfare and convenience of the municipality.... This authority includes the power to enact regulations based on aesthetic considerations.... Municipalities are also granted broad zoning and planning powers.... Further *a municipality may delegate the administration of its ordinances to a board provided the board's discretion is sufficiently limited by clear rules and standards*....

A strong presumption exists in favor of the validity and application of zoning ordinances.... In the context of zoning, a decision of a reviewing body ... will not be disturbed if there is evidence in the record to support its decision.... A court will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision.... However, a decision of a municipal zoning board will be overturned if arbitrary.... Further, "the decision of the zoning board will not be upheld where it is based on errors of law, ... or where there is no legal evidence to support it, or where the board acts arbitrarily or unreasonably, ... or where, in general, the board has abused its discretion." ... *When exercising discretion, a local board must be guided by standards which are specific in order to prevent the ordinance from being invalid and arbitrary*.... "The concept of vagueness or indefiniteness rests on the constitutional principle that *procedural due process requires fair notice and proper standards for adjudication*."... [Emphasis added.]

327 S.C. at 234-35, 489 S.E.2d at 632-33 [citations deleted.]

The City of Charleston has delegated the administration of its historic preservation ordinances to its Board of Architectural Review, but it has failed to limit the BAR's discretion by clear rules and standards. Instead, the BAR members have boundless and unfettered discretion to decide, in their own subjective opinions, what the "public interest" requires insofar as demolition and what constitutes "architectural and historical interest."

In Schloss Poster Advertising Co. v. City of Rock Hill, 190 S.C. 92, 2 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1939), the South Carolina Supreme Court held:

It seems to us clear upon authority and reason that if an ordinance is passed by a municipal corporation, which upon its face restricts the right or dominion which the individual might otherwise exercise over his property without question, not according to any general or uniform rule, but so as to make the due enjoyment of his own depend upon the arbitrary will of the governing authorities of the town or city, it is unconstitutional and void, because it fails to furnish a uniform rule of action and leaves the right of property subject to the despotic will of city authorities who may exercise it so as to give exclusive profits or privileges to particular persons.... [Citations deleted].

The ordinance before us is in no sense a zoning ordinance as provided in [the State code] nor does it prescribe rules or conditions for the issuance of permits for the erection of billboards to which all persons similarly situated may conform. It does not profess to prescribe regulations for their location, construction, or maintenance, but it commits to the unrestrained will of the city authorities, for any reason deemed satisfactory to them, the right and power to absolutely prohibit the use of property for the erection of billboards.

The ordinance in question in no way controls or guides the discretion vested thereby in the respondents. It prescribes no uniform rule upon which the special permission of the city is to be granted. Thus the city is clothed with the uncontrolled power to capriciously grant the privilege to some and deny it to others; to refuse the application of one landowner or lessee and to grant that of another, when for all material purposes, the two are applying for precisely the same privileges under the same circumstances. The danger of such an ordinance is that it makes possible arbitrary discriminations and abuses in its execution, depending upon no conditions or qualifications whatever, other than the unregulated arbitrary will of the city authorities as the touchstone by which its validity is to be tested. Ordinances which thus invest a city council with a discretion which is purely arbitrary, and which may be exercised in the interest of a favored few, are unreasonable and invalid. The ordinance should have established a rule by which its impartial enforcement could be secured....

The City of Charleston has violated the holdings of the Supreme Court in enacting a zoning ordinance which restricts a property owner's right to construct, modify or demolish his/her building if it is located within a certain designated district without providing strict standards to be followed by the BAR members. The Ordinance provides no standards, specific or general, to the BAR, which makes decisions solely based on its members' subjective opinions.

The City of Charleston Zoning Ordinance establishing the Board of Architectural Review is unconstitutional as written without any specific standards for the members of the BAR to

apply and should be declared to be void and invalid. Based on the unconstitutionality of the ordinance, this Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court.

III. As an additional basis for affirming the decision of the Circuit Court, the BAR failed to provide a written order pursuant to Zoning Ordinance § 54-240(h).

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